DO NOT REMOVE
FROM FILE

FILE COPY

ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

Assignment of Error No. 1

Samuel R. Amoruso, Jr., contends that he is entitled to the entry of an Order reversing the Circuit Court of Mineral County's Order entered the 17th day of November, 2017, which denied his Motion to Set Aside the Default Judgment previously entered on the 28th day of January, 2016. Mr. Amoruso unequivocally established before the lower Court that the Respondent failed to sue the proper entity as well as failing to ensure service of process was proper, pursuant to Rule 4(d)(5)(A) of the West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure. By the use of the Respondent's own documents, contract and the pleadings, Mr. Amoruso plainly exhibited to the lower Court that:

1. Mr. Amoruso was not the entity that contracted for the insurance service provided by the Respondent;
2. Mr. Amoruso does not conduct business "doing business as Quality Supplier Trucking, Inc."; and
3. Mr. Amoruso's substantive and due process rights were violated, depriving him of his property and equal protection under the law.

These salient facts were known to the Respondent and were litigated before the lower Court either negligently or intentionally by misrepresenting these facts, resulting in an improper money judgment against Mr. Amoruso. This Court should review this error and set aside the Judgment against Mr. Amoruso and consider it void and a nullity.

Assignment of Error No. 2

Mr. Amoruso contends that the lower Court abused its discretion, prejudicing Mr. Amoruso in both the incorrect application of the law and the lower Court's errant comments regarding Mr. Amoruso's business practices. The lower Court clearly ignored the failure of the Respondent to sue the correct entity, and the Respondent's obstinate failure to acknowledge its gross error, as evidenced by the contract of insurance and invoice billed to Q.S.I., Inc. The failure of the lower Court to apply the law correctly in reaching its decision must always be considered an abuse of discretion. Koon vs. United States, 518 U.S. 81, [1996].¹ The failure of the lower Court to exercise his discretion in a reasoned manner, has prejudiced Mr. Amoruso. The lower Court neglected and misapplied West Virginia law in failing to insure Mr. Amoruso's substantive and due process rights would be free from violation as a result of the Respondent's failure to sue the correct entity, as well as failing to consider the prior precedent and rulings of this Honorable Court. The lower Court's ruling is against logic as applied to the facts of this case and its decision was based on irrelevant and impermissible factors and prejudicial statements on the record, which disparaged Mr. Amoruso's character in conducting his business. This Court is duty bound to find an abuse of discretion in order to safeguard Mr. Amoruso's rights and good name.

¹ See also Identifying and Understanding Standards of Review, Georgetown University Law Center, the Writing Center, Daniel Sullivan, 2013.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This matter was originally instituted by the Respondent, Commerce Industry Insurance Company, by and through its Attorney Clinton W. Smith, Esquire on the 8th day of June, 2014. The Complaint alleged that the Petitioner, “Samuel R. Amoruso, Jr, d/b/a/ Quality Supplier Trucking, Inc” was indebted to the Respondent as a result of receiving “goods, funds, or services” in the amount of \$36,809.00.

The Petitioner received a Summons and Complaint on or about the 16th day of June, 2014, as verified by Jeff Conley, Deputy Sheriff of Mineral County, West Virginia.

On the 7th day of July, 2014 the Petitioner, Samuel R. Amoruso Jr., filed his Answer denying that he was doing business as Quality Supplier Trucking Inc; denied that he received goods, funds, or services from the Respondent; and denied that any amount was due and owing.

The matter proceeded and Counsel for the Respondent apparently served a Discovery request upon the Plaintiff. On the 23rd day of October, 2014 Counsel for the Respondent filed a Motion to Compel the Petitioner to respond to his Discovery requests.

On the 6th day of January, 2015, this Honorable Court granted Counsel for the Respondent’s Motion and required the Petitioner to respond by the 5th day of February, 2015.

Thereafter, on the 5th day of February, 2015, Samuel R. Amoruso, Jr. responded to the First Set of Interrogatories, again denying his indebtedness to the Respondent. Petitioner Amoruso also provided certain documents in response to the Respondent’s First Request for Documents. Lastly, Petitioner Amoruso responded to the Respondent’s Response for Admissions and, again, specifically denied that he had an account with the Respondent, that he received any goods or services from the Respondent or that he was indebted to the Respondent for the amount alleged.

Thereafter, Counsel for the Respondent filed a Motion to Amend its Complaint on the 26th day of June, 2015. Evidently, Counsel for the Respondent averred that additional monies were due and owing and therefore requiring the Complaint to be amended to show an increase in the amount alleged to be due. Thereafter, on the 25th day of July, 2015, this Honorable Court granted the Respondent's Motion to Amend the Complaint. Counsel for the Respondent thereafter filed an amended Complaint alleging that, rather than \$36,809.00 being owed, \$64,255.00 was alleged to be owed.

The Amended Complaint was served upon Petitioner Amoruso by Deputy Sheriff Conley on the 19th day of August, 2015. Throughout this entire process, Petitioner Amoruso repeatedly communicated with both the Respondent Insurance Company, as well as opposing Counsel Clinton W. Smith, Esq. advising that the dollar amount alleged was calculated incorrectly and that he himself was not the entity to be charged. Mr. Amoruso was of the opinion that this matter would ultimately be settled, upon the Respondent properly reviewing its records and correctly calculating what, if any, amount would have been due and owing.

Subsequent to Counsel for the Respondent securing a Motion to Amend the Complaint, opposing Counsel ceased communicating with Petitioner Amoruso. Evidently, opposing Counsel was more concerned with securing a high-dollar judgment, rather than reaching the truth of all matters he had earlier asserted.

A print-out from the West Virginia Secretary of State Online Data Services Business Organization Detail Form indicates that the entity "Q. S. I., Inc." is the only entity of record with the West Virginia Secretary of State to which Petitioner Amoruso is affiliated regarding the business operations that would have pertained to the Respondent. (Joint Appendix of Record, Pages 75 - 77),

The Workers Compensation Insurance Policy issued by Commerce and Industry Insurance Company clearly reflects that Q. S. I., Inc. is the entity to which goods and services would have been provided to the Petitioner as outlined by Council for the Respondent's Complaint. (Joint Appendix of Record, Pages 78 - 98), Lastly, a Collection Notice from the Respondent billing only Q. S. I., Inc. for the amount in dispute. (Joint Appendix of Record, Page 99).

Notwithstanding all of the above, a Default Judgment was entered against Mr. Amoruso on the 16th day of January , 2016, as a result of Mr. Amoruso's failure to file a responsive pleading to the Amended Complaint. Mr. Amoruso, acting as a *pro se* litigant and was taken advantage of by Counsel for the Respondent thereby resulting in the Default Judgment. Thereafter on the 19th day of May, 2017 the undersigned Counsel for Mr. Amoruso filed a Motion to Set Aside Default Judgment. The issue was then set for a hearing on the 21st day of September, 2017 from which the lower Court denied the Motion to vacate and ruled against Mr. Amoruso.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

1. Mr. Amoruso was entitled to an Order by the lower Court granting his Motion to Set Aside the Default Judgment entered on the 28th day of January, 2016. Prior to Mr. Amoruso retaining the undersigned Counsel, he filed an Answer to the initial Complaint as well as responding to the Respondent's Request for Admissions as well as Answers to Interrogatories and Response to Request to Production of Documents. Throughout the entire proceeding, Mr. Amoruso denied that he incurred the debt and denied that he was a party to the accident. Notwithstanding the Discovery received by Counsel for the Respondent, Counsel for the Respondent filed a Motion to Amend the Complaint, which was subsequently granted by the lower Court, alleging that Sixty Four Thousand Two Hundred and Fifty Five Dollars (\$64,255.00) was owed rather than the initial Thirty Six Thousand Eight Hundred and Nine Dollars (\$36,809.00). What is most perplexing and equally mystifying is the fact that Counsel for the Respondent knew or should have known that the proper entity billed by his client was Q.S.I., Inc.; not Samuel R. Amoruso, Jr. doing business as Quality Supplier Trucking, Inc. That title, in and of itself, is an impossibility since no one "does business as" a corporation. A corporation is its own legal entity. Nonetheless, Counsel for the Respondent marched on and secured a Default Judgment. Inasmuch as Mr. Amoruso acted *pro se*, he failed to file yet another answer to the Amended Complaint, denying the allegations therein.

The Default Judgment entered upon Mr. Amoruso must be considered a void judgment and a nullity. Since he did not incur the debt alleged; he was not the entity under contract pursuant to the Respondent's own documents; personal jurisdiction was not secured against the Mr. Amoruso as a result of improper service of process. The lower Court's ruling was contrary to West Virginia law, clearly erroneous and plainly in error. A void judgment may be attacked at anytime, being always susceptible to challenge.

2. The lower Court abused its discretion in failing to properly apply West Virginia Rule of Civil Procedure 60(b) in the following manner:

- a. That it ignored the fact that the Default Judgment Order was indeed a nullity;
- b. That it failed to acknowledge that Mr. Amoruso's substantive procedural due process rights were violated;
- c. That it failed to acknowledge the improper service of process utilized by the Counsel of the Respondent; and
- d. Further, by the prejudicial comments upon the record, clearly resulted in a persecution of Mr. Amoruso, rather than a reasoned order based upon proper legal precedent.

STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION

Petitioner respectfully requests oral arguments on this matter pursuant to Rule 19(a)(1), (2), and (3) of the West Virginia Rules of Appellate Procedure, because this case involves assignments of error in the application of settled law; in the unsustainable exercise of discretion by the lower Court where the law governing that discretion is settled; and where the result rendered by the lower Court was against the weight of the evidence.

ARGUMENT

I. STANDARD OF REVIEW

A motion to vacate a default judgment is addressed to the sound discretion of the lower Court and the lower Court's ruling on such motion will not be disturbed on appeal unless there is a showing of an abuse of discretion. Appellate review of the propriety of a default judgment focuses on the issue of whether the trial court abused its discretion in entering the Default Judgment. On an appeal to the appellate court, an appellant bears the burden of showing that there was error in the proceedings below resulting in the judgment of which he complains, all presumptions being in favor of the correctness of the proceedings in judgment in and of the trial court. Hardwood Group v. LaRocco, 219 W.Va. 56, 631 S.E. 2d 614 [2006]. An appellate court is not bound by the labels employed; rather it shall treat matters made pursuant to the most appropriate rule. Beane v. Dailey, 226 W.Va. 445, 701 S.E. 2d 848 [2010]. An appellate court, in the exercise of discretion given it by the remedial provisions of West Virginia Rule of Civil Procedure 60(b), which provides relief from judgment, should recognize that the Rule is to be liberally construed for the purpose of accomplishing justice and that it was designed to facilitate the desirable legal objective that cases are to be decided on the merits. Rose v. Thomas Memorial Hospital Foundation, Inc., 208 W.Va. 406 541 S.E. 2d 1 [2000]. Default judgments are not favored and a liberal construction should be accorded West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure 60(b). Tudor's Biscuit World of America v. Crichley, 229 W.Va. 396, 729 S.E. 2d 231 [2012]; Hamilton Watch Company v. Atlas Container, Inc., 156 W.Va. 52, 190 S.E. 2d 779 [1972] and McDaniel v. Romano, 155 W.Va. 875, 190 S.E. 2d 8 [1972].

II. THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO RECOGNIZE THE VOID NATURE OF THE JANUARY 28, 2016 ORDER OF DEFAULT.

Rule 60(b) of the West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedures provided in pertinent part:

Mistakes; inadvertence; excusable neglect; unavoidable cause; newly discovered evidence; fraud etc. - On motion and upon such terms as are just, the court may relieve a party or a party's legal representative from a final judgment, order, or proceeding for the following reasons: (1) Mistake, inadvertence, surprise, excusable neglect, or unavoidable cause; (2) newly discovered evidence which by due diligence could not have been discovered in time to move for anew trial under Rule 59(b); (3) fraud (whether heretofore denominated intrinsic or extrinsic), misrepresentation, or other misconduct of an adverse party; (4) the judgment is void; (5) the judgment has been satisfied, released, or discharged, or a prior judgment upon which it is based has been reversed or otherwise vacated, or it is no longer equitable that the judgment should have prospective application; or (6) any other reason justifying relief from the operation of the judgement. The motion shall be made within a reasonable time, and for reasons (1) (2) (3) not more that one year after the judgment, order, or proceeding was entered or taken. A motion under this subdivision (b) does not affect the finality of a judgment or suspend its operation. This rule does not limit the power of a court to entertain an independent action to relieve a party from a judgment, order or proceeding, or to grant statutory relief in the same action to a defendant not served with a summons in that action, or to set aside a judgment for fraud upon the court. Writs of coram nobis, coram vobis, petition for rehearing, bills of review and bills in the nature of a bill of review, are abolished, and the procedure for obtaining any relief from a judgment shall be by motion as prescribed in these rules or by an independent action.

This Honorable Court in Tudor's Biscuit World of America v. Crichley, (supra) established the standard that while a void judgment is a nullity and may be attached, collaterally or directly at any time and in any court whenever any claim or right is asserted, consequently there should be no time limit to set a void judgment. This Honorable Court further espoused that a motion filed pursuant to West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure Rule 60(b)(4) must be made within a reasonable time.

Counsel for the Respondent relied on Rule 60(b) of the West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure in an attempt to request the lower Court to set aside the prior Default Judgment. The Motion to Set Aside the Default Judgment clearly identified the legal inconsistencies between the Respondent's own Contract and Billing which listed the proper party to be charged as "Q.S.I., Inc." rather than Mr. Amoruso doing business as Quality Supplier Trucking, Inc.

The undersigned Counsel through both the written Motion and Oral Argument attempted to show the lower Court that as a result of the Contract of the Respondent being in the name of another entity, (Q.S.I, Inc.), a mistake, inexcusable neglect, fraud, misrepresentation or misconduct had to be afoot by Counsel for the Respondent or the Respondent to justify processing this cause of action at the onset. Specifically during the hearing upon the Motion conducted on the 21st day of September, 2017, the undersigned Counsel informed the Court that whenever the undersigned sues someone he has to sue the right person. (Transcript Page 4, Joint Appendix of Record Page 112).

Q.S.I., Inc. was the proper entity to be charged and litigated against, rather than Mr. Amoruso. Service of Process was not made correctly pursuant to Rule 60(b)(4) of the West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure since the proper entity was not made a party, Mr. Amoruso's substantive due process rights were violated. This Honorable Court in Tudor's Biscuit World of America v. Crichley, (*supra*) recognized that:

It is a fundamental tenet of United States jurisprudence that to enable a court to hear and determine action, suit or other proceeding it must have jurisdiction of the subject matter and jurisdiction of the parties; both are necessary and the absence of either is fatal to its jurisdiction. To Make a corporation amendable to the jurisdiction of a state's courts, service of process must be made in accordance with West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure 4(d) and with exacting compliance with any statute so governing. As such, a determination that the trial court lacked in personam jurisdiction will render the default judgment at issue void and unenforceable.

This is the exact result that has befallen Mr. Amoruso. Mr. Amoruso did not make the debt averred and was not the proper party. The affect of this Default Judgment renders another person liable for another entity's debt. The default judgment is necessarily void as a result. Inasmuch as the default judgment is void, the lower Court's Order of the 17th day of November, 2017, denying to set aside default judgment is also void. A judgment is void on its face if the trial court exceeded its jurisdiction by granting a relief that it had no power to grant. A court must vacate any judgment entered in excess of its jurisdiction. Lubben v. Selective Service System Local Bd. No 27, 453 F. 2d 645 [1st Cir. 1972]. A judgment is a void judgment if a Court that rendered judgment lacked jurisdiction of the subject matter or the parties, or acted in a manner inconsistent with due process. United States Constitution Amendment Five Klugh v. United States, 620 F. Supp. 892 [D.S.C. 1985] "Where due process is denied, the case is void" Johnson v. Zerbst, 304 U.S. 458, S. Ct. 1019 [1938]

In order to render service of process upon a corporation, the requirements under Rule 4(d)(5)(A) of the West Virginia Rule of Civil Procedure provides in pertinent part:

Upon a domestic private corporation, (A) by delivering or mailing in accordance with paragraph (1) above a copy of the summons and complaint to an officer, director, or trustee thereof, or if no such officer, director, or trustee be found, by delivering a copy thereof to any agent of the corporation including, in the case of a railroad company, a depot or station agent in the actual employment of the company; but excluding, in the case of an insurance company, a local or soliciting agent

Counsel for the Respondent prepared a Complaint styled “Commerce and Industry Insurance v. Samuel R. Amoruso, Jr. dba Quality Supplier Trucking, Inc.” (Joint Appendix of Record Page 6). Counsel for the Respondent prepared the Summons in the name of “Samuel R. Amoruso, Jr. dba Quality Supplier Trucking, Inc.” (Joint Appendix of Record Page 5). A designee of the Sheriff of Mineral County, West Virginia then proceed to serve Mr. Amoruso individually. The proper method of securing service of process upon a corporation would have been to serve an officer of Q.S. I., Inc. rather Counsel for the Respondent sued Mr. Amoruso as an individual “doing business as” a corporation.

Mr. Amoruso, acting *pro se*, filed an Answer (Joint Appendix of Record Page 9) as well as providing Responses to the Respondent’s First Set of Interrogatories, First Request for Documents and a Response to Admissions. (Joint Appendix of Record Pages 18-22). Mr. Amoruso’s responses consistently denied both liability of the underlying debt averred, as well as being the entity to be charged. The Record reflects that notwithstanding the Discovery received by Counsel for the Respondent, on the 26th day of June, 2015, the Respondent filed a Motion to Amend its Complaint increasing the dollar amount of the Judgment from Thirty Six Thousand Eight Hundred and Nine Dollars (\$36,809.00) to Sixty Four Thousand Two Hundred and Fifty

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