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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

In this appeal, Amoruso does not articulate any valid reason for reversing the Circuit Court's denial of his Motion to Set Aside.

His principal argument on appeal—that the Judgment was void and thus should be vacated under Rule 60(b)(4)—was never raised in the Circuit Court, and he thus cannot raise it for the first time here. Besides, the Judgment is not void, in that there was no defect in the Circuit Court's exercise of personal jurisdiction over Amoruso—the only defendant in the suit. Contrary to Amoruso's contention that Commerce and Industry sued the wrong party, Amoruso was properly

served (twice) and subjected to the Circuit Court’s jurisdiction. Stripped down, Amoruso contends that the Judgment is void because it is wrong—an unsupported and erroneous proposition.

The Circuit Court properly denied Amoruso’s Motion to Set Aside because it was not timely filed. Motions brought under Rule 60(b)(1) or (3)—the *only* subsections relied on by Amoruso in his Motion to Set Aside in the Circuit Court—must be filed within a reasonable time, but not to exceed a period of one year after the judgment. Amoruso waited 16 months to file his Motion to Set Aside. Because Amoruso failed to timely file his Motion to Set Aside in the Circuit Court, and because he fails to show how the Circuit Court abused its discretion, the Court should affirm.

STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION

Commerce and Industry does not believe that oral argument is necessary in this case because, under W. Va. R. App. P. 18(4), the facts and legal arguments are adequately presented in the brief and record on appeal, and therefore the decisional process would not be significantly aided by oral argument before the Court.

ARGUMENT

I. STANDARD OF REVIEW

A motion to vacate a judgment made pursuant to *Rule 60(b)*, W. Va. R.C. P., “is addressed to the sound discretion of the court and the court’s ruling on such motion will not be disturbed on appeal unless there is a showing of an abuse of such discretion. Syl. Pt. 5, *Toler v. Shelton*, 157 W.Va. 778, 204 S.E.2d 85 (1974).” Syl. pt. 4, *Rose v. Thomas Mem’l Hosp. Found., Inc.*, 208 W.Va. 406, 541 S.E.2d 1 (2000) (per curiam). *See also* Syl. pt. 2, *Rose*, 208 W.Va. 406, 541 S.E.2d 1 (“ ‘An appeal of the denial of a *Rule 60(b)* motion brings to consideration for review only the order of denial itself and not the substance supporting the underlying judgment nor the final judgment order.’ Syl. Pt. 3, *Toler v. Shelton*, 157 W.Va. 778, 204 S.E.2d 85 (1974).”). “ ‘[U]nder

the abuse of discretion standard, [this Court] will not disturb a circuit court's decision unless the circuit court makes a clear error of judgment or exceeds the bounds of permissible choices in the circumstances.’ ” *Graham v. Wallace*, 214 W.Va. 178, 182, 588 S.E.2d 167, 171 (2003) (internal citations omitted). This Court also has noted that “[o]nly where we are left with a firm conviction that an error has been committed may we legitimately overturn a lower court's discretionary ruling. ‘Where the law commits a determination to a trial judge and his discretion is exercised with judicial balance, the decision should not be overruled unless the reviewing court is actuated, not by a desire to reach a different result, but by a firm conviction that an abuse of discretion has been committed.’ ” *Covington v. Smith*, 213 W.Va. 309, 322-23, 582 S.E.2d 756, 769-70 (2003) (internal citations omitted).

II. THE CIRCUIT COURT PROPERLY DENIED AMORUSO’S RULE 60(b) MOTION BECAUSE THE JUDGMENT IS NOT VOID AND AMORUSO’S MOTION WAS NOT TIMELY MADE.

A. Amoruso Waived any Argument that the Judgment Is Void, as He Failed to Raise this Issue in the Circuit Court.

As this Court has held, a party does not preserve, for appeal, issues that the party fails to raise in the Circuit Court. In the Circuit Court, Amoruso never argued that the Judgment was void and, therefore, should be set aside under Rule 60(b)(4). Because he raises this issue for the first time on appeal, the issue was not properly preserved, and the Court should not address it.

“To preserve an issue for appellate review, a party must articulate it with such sufficient distinctiveness to alert a circuit court to the nature of the claimed defect.” *Hanlon v. Logan Cnty. Bd. of Educ.*, 201 W. Va. 305, 315, 496 S.E.2d 447, 457 (1997). “The rule in West Virginia is that parties must speak clearly in the circuit court on pain that, if they forget their lines, they will likely be bound forever to hold their peace.” *Id.* (internal alterations omitted). “It must be emphasized

that the contours for appeal are shaped at the circuit court level by setting forth with particularity and at the appropriate time the legal ground upon which the parties intend to rely.” *Id.*

In his Motion to Set Aside, Amoruso never raised the prospect that the Judgment was void. Appx. 67-71, 109-115. Indeed, as the face of his Motion to Set Aside and hearing transcript demonstrate, Amoruso grounded his arguments in the concepts of “fraud” and “excusable neglect,” thereby exclusively invoking Rule 60(b)(1) & (3) as the legal justification to vacate the Judgment.¹ *Id.* At the Circuit Court, Amoruso did not expressly invoke Rule 60(b)(4). Nor did he make any substantive arguments suggesting that the Judgment was void. *Id.* Indeed, the Circuit Court, in denying the Motion, understood Amoruso’s arguments to exclusively relate to Rule 60(b)(1) & (3). Appx. 116.

Now, for the first time, Amoruso raises the specter of a void Judgment on appeal. But his failure to raise this argument at the Circuit Court precludes its consideration on appeal. *C.D. v. Grant Cnty. Bd. of Educ.*, No. 16-1035, 2017 W. Va. LEXIS 784, at *7 (W. Va. Sup. Ct. Oct. 20, 2017) (memorandum decision) (“Petitioner fails to provide a citation to the record where, either in writing or in oral presentation, she raised the issue . . . with the circuit court. Therefore, she has waived her right to raise this argument for the first time on appeal.”). As a result, the Court can affirm the Circuit Court’s decision on this basis alone.

B. The Circuit Court’s Judgment Is Not Void Thereby Rendering Rule 60(b)(4) Inapplicable.

1. There is No Issue of Personal Jurisdiction.

Even assuming Amoruso can raise his void judgment argument on appeal, it collapses under the weight of its own illogic. Instead of focusing on the Circuit Court’s jurisdiction over

¹ In his brief, Amoruso even acknowledges that the grounds he advanced in the Circuit Court in support of his Rule 60(b) motion were based on grounds other than a void judgment. Petitioner’s Brief at 11.

himself, Amoruso challenges the efficacy of the Judgment based on the Circuit Court's lack of jurisdiction over QST, a non-party. Because Commerce and Industry properly served Amoruso, and the Circuit Court properly exercised jurisdiction over Amoruso—the only Defendant below—the Judgment is not void. Thus, the Circuit Court did not err in refusing to vacate the Judgment under Rule 60(b)(4).

The fundamental flaw in Amoruso's new-fangled theory is that it conflates jurisdictional principles with a defense he never raised. In short, Amoruso argues that because Commerce and Industry allegedly should have sued another party—*i.e.*, QST—for the unpaid premium, Commerce and Industry's failure to properly serve QST somehow thwarted the Circuit Court's "jurisdiction"² to enter the Judgment. Petitioner's Brief at 11-13.

This theory completely disregards the reality confronted by the Circuit Court. Commerce and Industry did not sue QST—it sued Amoruso. Because Commerce and Industry decided to pursue Amoruso for the unpaid premium, it only needed to serve Amoruso. W. Va. R. Civ. P. 4. And the parties do not dispute that Commerce and Industry properly served its Complaint and Amended Complaint on Amoruso. Appx. 8, 31; Petitioner's Brief, 3-4. Because Commerce and Industry properly served Amoruso—and the Amoruso raises no other arguments with respect to personal jurisdiction—the Circuit Court properly exercised personal jurisdiction over him. To the extent Amoruso asserts that QST was also required to be served to confer personal jurisdiction over him, he cites no authority for that facially illogical and incorrect proposition.

² Although Amoruso is imprecise in his use of the term "jurisdiction," Amoruso's arguments are necessarily grounded in personal jurisdiction, not subject matter jurisdiction. While service of process does not confer personal jurisdiction, it is a prerequisite. *State ex rel. Farber v. Mazzone*, 213 W. Va. 661, 666, 584 S.E.2d 517, 522 (2003) (citing *Bowers v. Wurzburg*, 205 W. Va. 450, 519 S.E.2d 148 (1999) for the proposition that "service of process brings the defendant before the court, and personal jurisdiction contemplates whether the defendant is properly before the court so as to permit the tribunal to exercise jurisdiction over his/her person."').

2. Amoruso Waived Any Conceivable Issue of Personal Jurisdiction.

In addition, even if Amoruso theorizes that the Circuit Court lacked personal jurisdiction over him, in his personal capacity, he waived that defense. The West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure are clear on this point:

A defense of lack of jurisdiction over the person, improper venue, insufficiency of process, or insufficiency of service of process is waived (A) if omitted from a motion in the circumstances described in subdivision (g), or (B) if it is neither made by motion under this rule nor included in a responsive pleading or an amendment thereof permitted by Rule 15(a) to be made as a matter of course.

W. Va. R. Civ. P. 12(h)(1). Amoruso did not contest either the sufficiency of process or personal jurisdiction by motion. And he failed to include either defense in his Answer to the Complaint. Appx. 9-10. Amoruso thus waived any defense relating to service of process or personal jurisdiction. *In re Appointment of Trustees for Woodlawn Cemetery*, 222 W. Va. 351, 354, 664 S.E.2d 692, 695 (2008) (“Clearly, because the appellants failed to make a motion or file any pleading challenging the sufficiency of the appellees’ service of process . . . and instead appeared to defend against the appellee’s petition on the merits, the appellants have waived their objections.”).

Amoruso essentially asserts that the Judgment is void because it is allegedly wrong. But, even if this fiction were true, it would not transform it into a void judgment—a point on which the courts are in unanimous agreement. *See e.g., Pittman v. Pittman*, No. 01-A-01-9301-CH-00014, 1994 Tenn. App. LEXIS 481, at *10 (Tenn. Ct. App. Aug. 24, 1994) (“A judgment is not void simply because it is wrong. To be found void, a judgment must have been rendered by a court lacking jurisdiction over the subject matter or the parties or acting in some other manner inconsistent with the requirements of due process.”); *Riggins v. Hill*, 461 S.W.3d 577, 582 (Tex. App.—Houston [14th Dist.] 2015) (“Any error by the trial court in adjudicating the merits in the

Judgment did not deprive the trial court of jurisdiction to render the Judgment, nor did it make the Judgment void.”); *Njos v. United States*, No. 3:12-CV-1251, 2015 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 152497, at *8 (M.D. Pa. Nov. 9, 2015) (“[A] judgment is not void simply because one party regards that judgment as wrong.”).

Contrary to Amoruso’s contention, the Judgment is not void due to some defect in service of process or personal jurisdiction. Commerce and Industry sued and properly served Amoruso. Neither QST’s existence nor Amoruso’s unasserted defense change the analysis. As a result, Rule 60(b)(4) is not a basis to set aside the Judgment, and the Court should affirm the Circuit Court’s actions.

C. The Circuit Court Correctly Denied Amoruso's Rule 60(b) Motion Because It Was Untimely.

1. It is Untimely Under Rule 60(b)(1) and (3).

To bring a motion under Rule 60(b), it must be timely. Under Rule 60(b)(1) & (3), the subsections implicated by Amoruso, the motion must be brought within a reasonable time—but no longer than a year after judgment. Because Amoruso filed his Motion to Set Aside nearly 16 months after entry of the Judgment, it fell outside the strict deadline imposed by Rule 60(b).

A party must bring a motion under Rule 60(b) within the period established by the rule. *State ex rel. Bess v. Berger*, 203 W. Va. 662, 666, 510 S.E.2d 496, 500 (1998) (“Critical to the issue of seeking Rule 60(b) relief is a timely filing requesting such relief.”). The time limitation for bringing a Rule 60(b) motion under subsections (1)—“Mistake, inadvertence, surprise, excusable neglect, or unavoidable cause”—or (3)—“. . . fraud (whether heretofore denominated intrinsic or extrinsic), misrepresentation, or other misconduct of an adverse party”—is “**not more than one year after the judgment, order, or proceeding was entered or taken.**” W. Va. R. Civ. P. 60(b) (emphasis added).

For motions brought under these subsections, the one-year mark is a categorical outer limit, after which the motion may not be brought. *Savas v. Savas*, 181 W. Va. 316, 319, 382 S.E.2d 510, 513 (1989) (holding, under the previous version of the rule that provided for an eight month outer limit, that “[o]bviously, where the eight-month period has not been met, there is no need to make the reasonable time inquiry, as it is barred by the outer-limit term.”). Here, Amoruso grounded his motion in subsections (1) and (3). Appx. 67-71, 109-115. Indisputably, Amoruso filed his motion nearly 16 months after the Circuit Court entered Judgment. Appx. 43-45, 67. Thus, his Rule 60(b) motion was time-barred. *Savas*, 181 W. Va. at 319, 382 S.E.2d at 513.

2. Although Waived by Amoruso, Amoruso’s Motion is Likewise Untimely Under Rule 60(b)(4).

Recognizing the fixed nature of this time limit, Amoruso argues that his Motion to Set Aside is timely under subsection (4). Petitioner’s Brief at 10-12. This argument is academic, because he waived it by failing to raise it at the trial-court level (*see* § I.A (above)). Even if he had done so, waiting 16 months to file his Motion to Set Aside was unreasonable, and therefore untimely. *White v. Berryman*, 187 W. Va. 323, 331-332, 418 S.E.2d 917, 925-926 (1992) (“There is no question that [appellant] filed his 60(b) motion within eight months [applicable under the previous version of the rule] of the entry of the default judgment orders. However, given the circumstances present in this case, we do not find that this motion was filed within a reasonable time.”).

It is certainly not the case that motions under subsection (4) are subject to no time limit. Amoruso misreads *Tudor’s Biscuit World of Am. v. Critchley*, 229 W. Va. 396, 403, 729 S.E.2d 231, 238 (2012), as holding that a putatively void judgment under Rule 60(b) can be attacked at any time—even if the movant waits an unreasonable period of time. Petitioner’s Brief at 14-15. While this case notes a minority concurring opinion advocating for that proposition, the Court did

not adopt this position, instead choosing to leave “for another day” the question of whether a void judgment is subject to the Rule 60(b) timeliness requirement. *Id.* at n.10. Accordingly, Amoruso’s Motion to Set Aside is untimely even under a theory that Amoruso waived at the trial-court level.

3. Amoruso’s Initial Participation Manifests an Understanding of the Consequences of Disengaging from the Litigation.

Amoruso, though litigating *pro se*, filed an answer to Commerce and Industry’s Complaint. Appx. 9-10. Thereafter, when the Circuit Court ordered Amoruso to provide responses to Commerce and Industry’s written discovery requests, he complied. Appx. 17-22. And it is undisputed that Commerce and Industry served him with the Amended Complaint. Appx. 31; Petitioner’s Brief at 4. At the time Commerce and Industry’s served the Amended Complaint, it likewise served the summons, which expressly warned Amoruso that “[i]f you fail [to serve an answer to the Amended Complaint], judgment by default will be taken against you for the relief demanded in the complaint. . . .” Appx. 31.

Despite the Amoruso’s months-long participation in the case, and the clear warnings noted on the Summons attached to the Amended Complaint, Amoruso deliberately disengaged from the Circuit Court proceedings. In his brief, Amoruso offers no reason for his purposeful withdrawal from the case, except that he “did not file a separate answer due to being an insufficient *pro se* litigant.” Petitioner’s Brief at 14. But that status did not preclude his prior participation. And that prior participation manifests an understanding of the grave consequences of disengaging from active litigation.

Consequently, his unexplained and indefensible failure to answer the Amended Complaint and 16-month delay in seeking relief from the Judgment was unreasonable. *Savas*, 181 W. Va. at 319, 382 S.E.2d at 514 (affirming denial of Rule 60(b) motion because appellant could “offer no

viable reason as to why she delayed filing the motion until approximately thirteen months after the final decree”).

III. THE CIRCUIT COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN DENYING AMORUSO’S RULE 60(b) MOTION.

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